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INTRODUCTION

This study is designed to fulfill the requirements for an
archaeclogical documentary survey of Block 2860, Lots 16 and 25
in the Elmhurst section of the Borough of Queens, the City of New
York. This site was flagged for study as CEQR project number
89167Q because it is situated within the Colonial village of
Newtown and therefore has the potential to be a source of sig-
nificant remains from the historic periocd. The site is also
considered to be a possible place of prehistoric Amerind ac-
tivity. The development project is a parking garage of five
stories with basement which will cover virtually the entire

project site.

This study consists of an examination, through maps and
texts, of the history of the area of Block 2860 and its surround-
ing natural topography. In addition, the site was visited on two
occasions in order to assess its present condition. The informa-
tion has been analyzed to determine if additional archaeological
testing should or should not be recommended. Such testing will
be recommended if the site has the potential of yielding ar-
chaeological remains of significance. 1In the case of Block 2860,
such potential has been established and further testing has been

recommended.



.

Research for this study was conducted in the Map Division,
the Manuscript Division and the General Research Collections of
the New York Public Library, in the Queens Topographic Bureau in
Kew Gardens and in the author's persconal library. The author
acknowledges with appreciation the assistance and sound advice
provided by Dr. Joan Geismar, who kindly shared the results of

her research on the early history of Queens.
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SITE DESCRIPTION

Pre-Development Conditions

The site lies approximately five hundred feetr to the south-
west of the original line of Horse Brook, a generally eastwardly
flowing tributary of Flushing Creek, a water course that drained
to the north into Flushing Bay and thence into Long Island Sound.
Although some early maps indicate a marshy area on either side of
the brook (cf. Map 2; Figure 1), these maps show the wetland
stopping to the northeast of Block 2860 or on the far side of the

modern line of Queens Boulevard.

West and southwest of the site, the ground rose to the
irreqular hills of Newtown Heights (occasionally termed Nassau

Heights), of which, as noted below, some manifestations are still

visible today.
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Present Conditions

Site visits were conducted on April 27 and May 4, 1989,

The site is located at the corner of 38th Avenuel gpg

Hoffman Drive?2, across Hoffman Drive from st. Johns Queens Hospi-
tal (Figures 2 and 3). The site comprises Lots 25 and 16 of
Block 2860 (formerly Block 44 or Block 1723, Lots 50 to 37; see
Maps 9 and 10; Pigure 4). Currently, there is only one building
on the site, a two-story wood frame house that sits in Lot 25 at
the northwest corner of the pProperty (5800 or occasionally 5802
Hoffman Drive) (Figure 5). Otherwise, the site has been paved

over with asphalt for use as a parking lot,

The borders of the site have been fenced to separate it from
the adjacent Playground and athle;ic field to the east, and from
the privately owned lot to its soufh {2817 58th Avenue). Ailan-
thus trees and weeds grow along this border. With one exception,
these are the only significant flora on the site: a mature decid-

ucus tree is situated adjacent to the southwest corner of the

house in Lot 25.

1. 58th Avenue was formerly named Bowne Avenue, less fre-
quently, and probably inaccurately, rendered as Brown Avenue.
The road is also occasionally identified as Buskirk Road on some

.maps.

2, This street was formerly identified by & number of
names, including 0ld Road and Trotting Course Lane.

4




The hcuse (Figure 5) isg an aluminum-sided wood-frame struc-
ture, its form suggesting an early twentieth century construction
date, which conforms to its appearance on the 1902 sanborn (Fig-
ure 12). The building consists of a two-story, approximately 22
(E-W) by 31 (N-S) foot, main Structure with a single story, ap-
proximately 12 foot (N-S), extension on its south. This shed-
like extension is divided into two portions; on the east its roof
Slopes down towards the east, while on the west, a smaller
segment is flat-roofed and approximately three feet laower than
its eastern neighber. This configquration suggests three phases
in the construction of the house: an initial phase when the
primary structure was built, a second phase when the southeastern
extension was added, and a final phase marked by the construction
of the southwestern eéxXtension. The extension was in place by

1932 (Figure 13).

There is a basement under the primary section of the housge.
It extends approximately seven feet below grade. A staircase
within the house provides access to the basement. Another stair,
leading up from the southwest corner of the basement, has been
sealed. Presumably, this stalilr provided access to the exteriar

and was closed when the south(western) extension ta the house was

constructed.
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Neighboring houses on the project block and in its vicinity
include bhuildings whose style suggests construction in the years
between ﬁorld Wars I and II. These single-family structures have
basements and, in a number of cases, detached garages which are
Situated at the rears of the lets. Invariably, the building lots
are only partially filled by the standing structures. In addition
to these "early" buildings, a number of more recently constructed
homes are present in the area. There are no conspicuously ear-
lier or historic structures in the immediate vicinity of the

project block.

There is only one cother surface feature of note within the
project area: south of the standing house, there is a gap in the
asphalt pavement (Figure 6). This opening in the asphalt extends
approximately 25 feet north-south and 10 feet east-west. The
opening begins approximately six feet east of the scuthwest
corner of the house. It reveals dark, scoty earth mixed with
coal clinkers and pebbles. ApproxXximately twelwve feet south of
the house, there is an approximately six (E-W) by three (N-5)
foot extension to the opening in the asphalt. Three eight-inch
diameter circular pilings have been positioned near this exten-
sion. Two are sited at the southern corners of the extension;
the third is positioned along the western edge of the extension,
approximately half way between the extension and the southern
side of the house. There are no indications on the site or in

the available documentary records to explain the function of the



opening in the asphalt or these pilings.,.

The area of the site and the land to its south (i.e. in the
direction away from Queens Boulevard) was in earlier times iden-
tified as Newtown Heights (or Nassau Heights), and one of the
hills of the old heights still crests near the vicinity of Sea-
bury and 54th Avenues. The ground on the blocks immediately
around the site rises towards the south, and at the nearby inter-
section of Seabury Avenue and 54th Road there is an approximately
three foot drop, marked by a small series of concrete steps from
the sidewalk south of the intersection to the avenue. This drop
may reflect relatively recent attempts to adjust the formerly
uneven terrain to the requirements of modern development. Along
S58th Avenue, the ground rises only gradually between Hoffman
Drive and Seabury Avenue, and it continues without significant
change to Van Horn Avenue, the next block south from Seabury. At
that point, it rises abruptly to the elevated roadbed of the Long
Island Railrocad. There is no way to determine from current
surface indications whether this rise is natural or solely a

product of the railrocad's construction.

The project block itself is relatively level. The minor
elevation rise in the ground observed as one moves south from
Hoffman Drive is consistent with the change in elevation recorded
on the 1909 contour plan in the Queens Topcgraphical Bureau (Map

11). That plan notes an elevation on the northern side of Queens




Boulevard as +15 feet and a slight rise towards and along the
project block (+20 feet at Hoffman Drive and ;25 feeat south of
Seabury Avenue). Elevations of the current St. John's Queens
Hospital survey of the block show site elevations at the Hoffman
Drive side of the development site of +16.1 through +16.8 and a
gradual rise qf the site to +19.2 though +19.4 at the more south-
erly end of the project site (Fiéure-4f. fhe rélatively canform-
ity of these elevations, allowing for_pormal variation in survey
and recording techniques, does not indicate substantial landfil-

ling or contour leveling of the site.
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PREHISTORY

Prehistoric occupation in the northeast, including the New

York City area, has been divided into the following pericds:
Paleoc-Indian, 10,300 -~ 8000 B.C., Archaic, 8000 - 1300 B.C.,
Transitional, 1300 - 1000 B.C., and Wocdland, 1000 B.C. - to the
beginning of historic European occupation. The Archaic and
Woodland periocds have been subdivided into Early, Middle, and
Late phases as follows: Early Archaic, 8000 - 6000 B.C., Middle
Archaic, 6000 - 4000 B.C., Late Archaic, 4000 - 1300 B.C., Early
Woodland, 1000 - 300 B.C., Middle Woodland, 300 B.C. - 1000 A.D.,
Late Woodland, 1000 A.D. - European contact. Each of these peri-

cds is characterized by particular settlement types.

Paleo-Indian sites are often found along areas of low,

swampy ground or 1ln very high, protected areas (Ritchie 1980:7).

‘Within New York City, Palec-Indian remains have been excavated at

the Port Mobile site on Staten Island, and worked stone imple-
ments of Paleo-Indian type have been found at additional loca-

tions within that borough (Ritchie 1980:xviif. and map, pp. 4f£.).

Paleo-Indian materials have not yet been discovered in

Queens. 1In predicting the location of Paleo-Indian sites, it
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must be remembered that the topography of Queens and its sur-
rounding region have changed considerably since the beginning of
the Neothermal peridd. The discovery of the remains of land-ba-
sed megafauna such as mammoth and mastodon on the Atlantic Ocean
floor along the Continental Shelf opposite the New York - New
Jersey sea coast (Chesler 1982:20) serves as a reminder that the
geography of the New York area has been altered considerably
since antiquity, and that micreohabitats such as the stream that
flowed near to Block 2860 may have been radically different

during the earlier periods of prehistory.

Although early atlases indicate the presence of a small
Stream, Horse Brook, only about 500 feet west of the proposed
development site (Maps 1, 2 and 6; Figures 1, 7 and 8), it is
thus doubtful that this stream in any detail reflects the Paleo-
Indian topography of Queens. Considering the general scarcity of
Paleo-Indian remainS'Qithin New York City, the probability of

Such remains being present on the site is therefore extremely

low.

The Early Archaic was characterized by small hunting camps.
According the Landmarks Preservation Commission's study for a
City-wide archaeological predictive model, such sites do net have
great archaeological visibility, nor are they likely toc be as-

sociated with particular land forms (Baugher et al. 1982:10). |

10
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Finds from other bPortions of the U.S. Northeast indicare

that during the Middle Archaic there was a large inecrease of

Population. As yet, there is little evidence of this time period

in the New York City region and thus it is especially important

to watch for remains from this era. 5iscoveries of Middle aAr-

chaic compconents are ecessary in order to define Qccurrence-~-

Characteristics ang increase the accuracy of future predictions

of site Qecurrence.

For the Late Archaic, sites are most likely to be found in

littoral areas (Baugher et al. 1982:10-11;
Block 2860,

Ritchie 1980:143).
situated near a Stream and marsh area that is con-
nected by its parent Stream to the sea would seem then in thecry

to have at least Some potential for Late Archaic utilization.

Littoral areas and the zones dlong major inland water ways

such as the Hudson are also known to have been settled during

Transitional times. As yet, there is not a large enough body of

information to dccurately predict Transitional site occurrence

within New York City in anything except the most general terms

{(vide. Ritchie 1980:150~178 for the general characteristics and

distribution of Transitional remains).

L

In the wWoodlangd period, many different kinds of settlements
existed. Permanent and semi-permanent settlements, villages, as

well as seasonal campsites and food gathering/processing sta-

11
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ticns, are characteristic. Agriculture was practiced, although
this development may date only to the end of the Late Woodland
peried, feollowing the first contact with Europeans (Ceci 1982:2-
36). sShellfish Collecting sites at tidal inlets are particularly
well represented in this period, although this may simply be a
reflection of the fact that the tidal zones were less likely to

have been disturbed by subsequent city development than were

inland areas.

In the mid-17th century, during the earlier phases of Euro-
pean setﬁiement in the region, high hills near Streams, rivers
and agricultural fields, and fishing places were favored by the
Indians for settlement. This would seem to favor the area of

Newtown Heights as a place of Contact Period Amerind utilization.

At the time of European contact and Dutch settlement, Queens
was inhabited by Munsee-speaking Delawarean Canarsee who occupied
western Long Island and, Probably, lower Manhattan. Historically
documented Amering settlements are known at various sites in
Queens (c.f. Bolton 1975; Grumet 1981; Geismar 1987:9£.)(Figures
9 and 10), although none are recorded in the immediate vicinity
of the proposed development site. This omission becomes more
significant since the area of the site was settled by Europeans
as early as 1652 and none of the early accounts of the settle-
ment, as well as none of the land purchase treaties with the

natives, notes the presence of pre-existing Amerind villages in

12



the area. It is noteworthy in this context, however, that the
nunting grounds on the highlands to the south of the Colonists'
village were excluded from the original treaty under which the
lands of Newtown were purchased from the natives (White 1917:9).
These lands comprise the heights immediately tc the south and
southwest of the proposed development site, and thus suggest that
this was an area of at least some native activity during Contact

Period times.

13
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HISTORIC PERIOD

The district of the proposed develcpment site, called ZIm-
hurst in the current Queens atlases, was known as Newtown from
1665 until the establishment of New York City at the end of =he
late nineteenth century. In earlier colonial times, it had Heen

identified as Middleburg (1652 to 1663) and Hastings (1663 =2
1665).

e

Although Queens and the area of the proposed development
Site had witnessed sporadic settlement during the earlier daws of
the Dutch colonization of New Netherlands (White 1917:9), =k
first significant establishment of Europeans came in 1642 with
the granting by Director willem Kieft of a patent to an English-
man, the Reverend Francis Doughty, and a group of his Englisz
followers (White 1917:9; Riker 1982:16-19; Geismar 1987:1Z). The
Doughty patent granted 13,332 acres to the English settlers, a

territory that included virtually all of what would eventzally

become Newtown.

The majority of the settlers, including their leader, w~are
religious dissidents who had fled south from the more res=rictive
Puritan New England in order to enjoy the more liberal atzesThere

of the Dutch colony. They were thus similar to the Englisz

14



colonists, led by Lady Deborah Moody, who were to settle in
Gravesend in Brooklyn a few yvears later, and their arrivai re;
flects the deliberate policy of the Dutch in the New Netherlands
around the year 1640 to encourage "foreign" settlement within the
further reaches of their colony (van der Zee 1978:91f.; Riker

1982:16).

The Doughty grcoup settled at Mespat (also spelled Mespach-
tes. Maspeth 1s a modern corruption. White 1917:2), near the
head of Newtown Creek and considerably to the west of the pro-
posed development site. The settlement was unfortunately timed;
its establishment corresponded to the outbreak of Director Kieft's
infamous Indian War, and in 1643, the vear after its patent was
granted, the settlement was attacked and destroyed, at which time
a number of the settlers lost their lives. The survivors, in-
cluding the Rev. Doughty, fled to the sééety of the fortifica-
tions at Nieuw Amsterdam where they remained until the war ended

in 1645.

Some of the original settlers returned to Mespat within a

121f year of the cessation of hostilities, but the czleny never

regained its initial vigor and the subsequent history of Newtown
must be written from the perspective of a second English settle-
ment which was established in 1652.

As for the Reverend Doughty, the dissenter who had f£led

15



England in 1637 and Subsequently been expelled from Massachusetts
and Rhode Island prior to his arrival in New Netherlands, he
Proved as hard to get along with in Mespat as he had been in his
Previous homes. Following attempts to exercise dictatorial
Powers over his fellow colonists in New Netherlands, he antagon-
ized Director Kieft sufficiently that the Director had him fined
and briefly jailed in 1647. Doughty then quit Mespat and moved
to Flushing where he continued to agitate against the government.
In 1648/49, he left New Netherlands far the English Qirginias,
never to return to the north. An intriguing, if apparently
difficult man, Doughty had been the first minister to preach in
English on a regular baéis within the Nieuw Amsterdam settlement.
His dagghter, Mary, retained title to his farm dat Stephens Point
on Flushing Bay after he left the Dutch colony. She had married
the Dutch chronicler of New Netherlands, Adriaen van der Donck,
in 1645, and the farm eventually passed from Mary and her husband
to Thomas Stevenson and thence in 1737 to Abraham Rapelve, whose
family retained title to the land into the mid-nineteenth century

(White 1917:9; Riker 1982:20-24).

Following the collapse of the Mespat colony, "for years the
hum of industry and the marks of civilization were confined to
(Queens'] marine borders, while the interior maintained all the
grandeur of a wild unbroken wilderness" (Riker 1982:24f.). Then,
in 1652, a second gfoup of Englishmen from New England settled in

the area midway between the Kill of Mespat and Vlissingen {Flush-

16
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ing), establishing a village centered at the site of the current
Presbyterian church in Newtown {northwest of the Proposed develi-
opment site, at 5S4th Avenue between Queens Boulevard and Seabury
Avenue, near the intersection of Queens Boulevard and Broadway) .
The village was called Middleburg (also Mittelburg, Middelburg,
etc.) after a town in Holland that had granted sanctuary to the

English religious dissenters before they emigrated to America

(White 1817:9; Riker 1982:25).

The English colonists of Middleburg found the Dutch Director
Peter Stuyvesant unwilling to reissue Kieft's 1642 patent, and so

in order to confirm their claim to their homes, they arranged to
burchase the rights to the land from the native inhabitants of
western Long Island. A purchase grant dated April 12, 1656 gave
the English rights to virtually all of the acreage of the Doughty
pPatent with the exception of the hunting grounds on the heights
to the south of the new settlement. Fifty-five Englishmen sub-
scribed to the purchase which Northacker records was accamplished
at a rate of one shilling per acre {(Northacker 1927:19). Ten
Years later, on July 9, 1666, a second treaty conveyed the ex-
cluded hunting grounds to the English. This treaty was signed
for the natives by their sachems Rowrowoseo (or Roewerowestcoe)
and Pomwaukondoe (or Pamwakon). Payment for the land purchased
under the second agreement was made in two installments: 55
Pounds on July 9 and another 21 Pounds/9 Shillings on July 13th

These purchases were eventually confirmed by the first two Eng-

17



lish governors of New York, Nicoll and Dongan (White 1917:9:

Riker 1982: 41ff.; Geismar 1987:13).

In 1662-1663, after a long period of dissatisfaction with
Director Stuyvesant's administration and immediately precipitated
by Charles II's charter of Connecticut, which by granting to that
colony rights to "islands adjacent" raised the prospect for
Middleburg of union with a more sympathetic English colony,
Middleburg was renamed Hastings. A declaration of loyalty to
King Charles was signed on February 4, 1663 (Onderdonk 1865:5;
Riker 1982:52-60). Two years later, following the establishment
of English New York, the town added Bowery Bay and what would
eventually become Long Island City to its territory. At the same
time, it was renamed Newtown, the name it held until its incor-
poration into New York City in 1898 (White 1917:9). By 1683, the
community had grown to include 90 male heads of families, with
1563 acres of occupied land and 100 swine, 464 sheep, 109 horses,

28 colts, 107 oxen, 340 cows and 360 calves (Riker 1982:102).

The next century was marked by quiet growth in the predomi-
nantly agricultural community, marred only by a persistent border
dispute that smoldered hetween the English inhabitants of Newtown
and their Dutech neighbors in Bushwick/Brooklyn to the south. The
dispute was almost certainly intensified because of the ethnic
divisicons betweeﬁ the two districts, and on at least cne occasion

Dutch rioters from the south invaded the English territories to

13



their north. The Queens/Brooklyn border was finally fixed in
1769, ending this unpleasant minor chapter in the region's his-

tory (White 1917:11; Riker 1982:115, 139; Geismar 1987:13).

Various incidents are recorded as having taken place in
Newtown and in the immediate vicinity of the proposed development
Site during the Revolutionary War. Soon after the Battle of Long
Island, which was fought on August 28, 1776, the British General
Sir william Howe made his headquarters in Newtown Village at the
"Big House on the Bowery Bay Road" {(Figure 11}. The house was
owned by Samuel Renne, a miller, who served as a Supervisor of
Newtown for 23 successive years and who also was a Magistrate and
Elder of the Presbyterian Church. The house, which was located
at 70-74 Queens Boulevard, near the intersection of Queens Boule-
vard and 57th Avenue, two short-sided blocks or approximately S00
feet from the propaosed development site, had been constructed by
Renne in 1762. 1In 1784, when the house was being ocffered for
sale by Richard Lawrence who had purchased it from Renne, the
Structure was described as having "eight rooms and fire-places,
with an entry on each Story, in suitable repair to receive any

gentleman" (Onderdonk 1865:7).3

3, fThe house was demolished in December 1939 by its then
owner, D. Hovia, -a Cuban tobacce planter, following failed at-
tempts by the Queens horough government to acquire the property
for use as a museum. Contemporary newspaper articles suggested
that Hovia had decided to have the landmark structure razed in
order to eliminate a heavy tax burden (L.I. Star 1939).

19



Following the Battle of Long Island, the British forces
remained in the Newtown area until September 15th, when they
began to cross to Manhattan in pursuit of the retreating Con-
tinental army. General Howe probably occupied the Big House
until that time; it is certain that he was in residence on Sep-
tember 3, 1776 when he prepared his official report of the Battle
of Long Island (Riker 1982:191). Howe was peréonally in command
of the 23rd Regiment, The Rovyal Welsh Fusileers, and the heights
behind his residence were cccupied by his troops while he was in
Newtown. No formal plan of the encampment is known to exist, so
it cannot be determined whether the British camp extended to the
proposed development site. Riker noted that traces of the Bri-
tish soldiers' huts were still visible in the vicinity of the Big

House in the mid-nineteenth century (Riker 1982:191).

About a quarter of a mile from the Big House was another
Structure of historic significance. Near the modern southwest
corner of Queens Boulevard and Grand Avenue stood the so-called
"Corner House," built by Jonathah Fish (1680-1723) on the site of
the community's earlier Presbyterian church (Northacker 1927:3).
Fish, the ancestor of Hamilton Fish, the New York governor,
Federal Senator and Secretary of State, was the owner of the
land extending to the south and east of the building. Jonathan's
son, Samuel, ran the Corner House as a tavern, and in the early
eighteenth century it was an institution of major importance to

the small Newtown community. It was Samuel Fish who in 1720 sold

20



- 5

>
I
i

the farm adjoining his property on the east to James Renne, a
tailor by trade (Note that William O'Gorman attributed the sale
to J. Morrell, rather than to Fish. See Appendix.). The Fish
and Renne families remained close, and on Christmas eve 1761,
James Renne's son, Samuel, and Samuel Fish's daughter, Mary, were
married. The Big House that Samuel Renne built in 1762 became
the new family's home (L.I. Star 1935). At the time of the
Revolutionary War, the Corner House was owned by Abraham Rapelve.
Like Renne's Big House, the Corner House was commandeered for use
by British officers following the Battle of Long Island, in this
cgse those of General Robertson's command. During the seven
vears of the British occupation of Néw York that followed Wash-
ington's retreat after his defeat on Long Island, the Big House
and the Corner House became the focal points for the social life
of Newtown and the surrounding countryside. The residents of the
district, or at least those who had not fled the British occupa-
tion, were Tories, and the Corner House tavern became the gather-
ing place and banqueting hall for the officers who were stationed

in the Corner House and the Big House (White 1917:10; L.I. Star
19353}.

During the winter of 1777-1778, a loyalist militia force
under the command of General Oliver Delancy was stationed in
Newtown. The militia was assigned the task of defending Long

Island from concealed rebels, a charge that provided an excuse

21



for a number of confiscations and other abuses. Several of the
officers were Newtown men, and for a time they occupied the huts
behind the Big House that had been used by General Howe's forces

in 1776. These huts were alsc used as a hospital for invalid

soldiers {(Riker 1982:201}.

Following their defeat in the war, the British withdrew from
Newtown in late 1783. The last troops to leave were Hessian
mercenaries (Riker 1982:221). There had been a number of acts of

vandalism directed against rebel owned properties during the

.occupation {including the vandalism of the then standing Pres-

byterian Church, from which the steeple was sawn off by lovalists
fairly early in the war. The church was then turned into a
prison. Not long after that it was demolished and timbers from
the building were used to make huts for the soldiers behind
Renne's place [Riker 1982:198; Northacker 1927:4)). With the
British loss, many of the Tories of Newtown prudently decided to
resettle in Canada, in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick (Onderdonk

18653:65; whitea 1917:10).

The community fared well in the late eighteenth and early
nineteenth centuries. According to the 1790 census, most of the
households were sufficiently Prospercus to own at least a few
slaves, and one household owned as many as thirteen servants at
that time (White 1917:11). Samuel and Mary Renne sold the Big

House and its adjacent property in 1784/1785, beginning a series

22



of transfers that continued with relative frequency into the mid-

nineteenth century (see Appendix).

Newtown and the borough of Queens in general remained agri-
cultural through the first half of the nineteenth century, and
the industrialization of Queens did not begin until after the
Civil War. 1In the early 1870's, the Steinway Piano Company
opened factories in western Newtown, in the area today identified
as Long Island City, and portions of today's Astoria became
virtual company towns for the German-American piano company
{Geismar 1987:16). Central Newtown, in the immediate area of the
1652 Middleburg, preserved its dispersed, rural settlement pat-
tern until well into the second half of the nineteenth century,
and the town could not be described as appreoaching true urban
density until the years after world War I (see Maps 2 and 5 to

10; Figures 1, 8 and 12).

The specific developmental history of the project site and
its surrounding block, Queens Block 2860, is complicated by the
fact that the namgs of the surrounding streets have changed and
the exact paths of the streets have been altered a number of
times since the village of Newtown was founded. This sometimes

makes it difficult to coordinate the data provided by the exist-

ing historical maps.

Thus, Queens Boulevard, the main thoroughfare in the area of
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the proposed development site, is generally congruent with a
Pathway that has existed since the earliest days of the Colony.
In 1902, however, Queens Boulevard was known as Hoffman Boulevard
in the vicinity of the development site, while further to the
northwest, beyond its intersection with Grand Avenue, Queens
Boulevard was termed Thompson Avenue (cf. Map 9: Figure 12).

Only eleven years earlier, the same road was termed Jamaica Road
where it passed the proposed develcpment site (Map 7). In 1902,
Hoffman Drive, the street running along the north side of the
proposed development site, was termed 0ld Road, while on the 1891
atlas, the rocad did not exist. This suggests that the course of
Hoffman Boulevard/Jamaica Road was straightened to follow its
current, Queens Boulevard, path sometime around the turn of the
century. If this is correct, then the remains of houses depicted
as bein<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>